## **Public Document Pack**

### **Crawley Borough Council**

### **Minutes of Full Council**

Wednesday, 22 February 2023 at 7.30 pm

#### **Councillors Present:**

J Hart (Mayor)

T Rana (Deputy Mayor)

M L Ayling, T G Belben, J Bounds, S Buck, B J Burgess, R D Burrett, D Crow, H Hellier, I T Irvine, K L Jaggard, G S Jhans, K Khan, Y Khan, M G Jones, P K Lamb, R A Lanzer, T Lunnon, S Malik, K McCarthy, J Millar-Smith, M Morris, C J Mullins, S Mullins, M Mwagale, A Nawaz, B Noyce, D M Peck, A Pendlington, S Piggott, S Pritchard, S Raja and S Sivarajah

#### Also in Attendance:

Mr Peter Nicolson and Mr Russell Brown

(Independent Persons)

#### **Officers Present:**

Natalie Brahma-Pearl	Chief Executive
Siraj Choudhury	Head of Governance, People & Performance
Heather Girling	Democratic Services Officer
Chris Pedlow	Democracy & Data Manager

#### Apologies for Absence:

Councillor Z Ali

#### 1. Minute's Silence

The Mayor held a minute's silence in memory of former Mayor and Councillor Andy Kane who sadly passed in January 2023. The Mayor then invited representatives from each party to pay tribute. Councillors C Mullins, Burrett, and the Mayor paid their respects.

#### 2. Disclosures of Interest

The disclosures of interests made by councillors are set out in Appendix A to these minutes.

#### 3. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting of the Full Council held on 14 December 2022 were approved as a correct record and signed by the Mayor.

#### 4. Communications

The Mayor provided the Full Council with a brief update on the Mayoral events attended since the last meeting, which included attending Oriel High School with the Greenway Foundation on Christmas Eve for the distribution of Christmas lunches for families in Crawley and the return of the Mayor's Ball in January which coincided with celebrating Crawley's birthday. Last week she was able to attend the Stegosaurus Uncovered Exhibition at Crawley Museum with her grandson and many young people were present.

#### 5. Public Question Time

There were no questions from the public.

#### 6. Recommendation 1 – Polling Arrangements: May 2023

The Full Council considered report LDS/195 of the Head of Governance, People & Performance. Councillor Lamb as Chair of the Governance Committee introduced the report which requested that some temporary changes to the Scheme of Polling Places relating to the May 2023 Borough Council elections be made in advance of the introduction of voter ID. The current Scheme was adopted in January 2019 following ward boundary changes arising from the Local Government Boundary Commission for England electoral review of the Borough. The Polling Scheme worked well at the three sets of elections held in 2019. Several temporary changes had been made to the Polling Scheme for the elections held in 2021 and 2022 and, at its meeting held on 10 October 2022, the Committee considered the use of schools as polling places for May 2023. At its meeting on 24 January 2023, the Governance Committee considered further temporary changes to the Polling Scheme for polling districts LLB (Broadfield Ward), LMC (Three Bridges Ward) and LMD (Three Bridges Ward) due to the unavailability of venues and the requirements for the checking of voter ID.

Councillor Lamb explained that the Governance Committee requested further information for the Full Council's consideration with regards to Creasys Drive, the former Adventure Playground site, being used as a Polling Station over the suitability and safety of the venue due to storm damage and vandalism. This <u>report</u> was included within the Supplementary Agenda Order Paper on page 21, which stated that the building would be repaired and available and as such would suitable for use as a polling station at the May 2023 elections, and recommended that it is retained as the Polling Place for polling district LBB.

The recommendation was seconded by Councillor Bounds.

Councillor Irvine then moved and presented <u>Amendment 1</u> (as shown in the Supplementary Agenda Order Paper on page 23). The Amendment was seconded by Councillor K Khan who also spoke on the item.

Councillor Lamb, using their right to reply, commented that he would accept Councillor Irvine's amendment and include it as part of the substantive recommendation. The Mayor then called for a vote on the amendment, which was carried unanimously. The Mayor then called for a vote on the substantive recommendation as amended which was also carried unanimously.

#### RESOLVED

That the Full Council agrees that, for the 2023 elections, the Polling Scheme be amended to allocate polling places as follows:

LBB – Creasys Drive former Adventure Playground site\* LMC – The Hawth Theatre LMD – The New Town Hall

\* and if the building is unsafe, then a temporary polling station, such as a Portakabin, should be provided.

# 7. Recommendation 2 – Crawley Borough Local Plan Review: Publication and Submission

The Full Council considered report <u>PES/427</u> of the Head of Economy and Planning. The Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development presented the report. The new Crawley Local Plan had been prepared based on the outcomes of monitoring the implementation of the 2015 adopted Local Plan and feedback from previous stages of formal public consultations, and updated from the supporting technical evidence base. Following Full Council held on 16 December 2020 which approved the Draft Local Plan for publication and submission, formal public consultation took place from early January until the end of June 2021.

Progression of the Local Plan to submission was subsequently delayed due to the work required in order to meet the Habitats Regulations specifically in relation to water supply constraints. Due to this, a number of key changes, which account for the impact of "water neutrality" and associated time delay, had been made to the draft Local Plan. On this basis, the amended draft Plan required further consideration by the Full Council.

The report sought Full Council's approval of the submission draft Local Plan for Regulation 19 Publication Consultation (a statutory six-week period of), commencing 9 May 2023 and approval that the submission draft Local Plan be submitted to the Secretary of State for examination by an independent Planning Inspector, subject to minor amendments deemed necessary following consultation for the purposes of clarity, together with the recommendation to Full Council for approval of the publication and submission of the supporting documents for the Local Plan. These included the Local Plan Map; the Sustainability Appraisal; the Habitats Regulations Assessment; the Consultation Statement; and the detailed technical evidence base documents necessary for supporting the Local Plan through examination.

The item had been previously considered at the Overview and Scrutiny Commission and Cabinet meetings on 30 January 2023 and 1 February 2023 respectively. Councillor Nawaz moved the recommendation which was seconded and supported by Councillor Jones.

Councillor Burrett then moved and presented <u>Amendment 1</u> to Recommendation 2 (as shown in the Supplementary Agenda Order Paper on page 25). The amendment was seconded by Councillor Belben who also spoke on the item.

A single debate occurred on both the recommendation and the proposed amendment. Councillors Crow, Irvine, McCarthy, Lanzer, Lunnon, Mwagale and Jones also spoke during the Local Plan debate. Following the conclusion of the debate, the Mayor announced that she planned to hold recorded votes for both the amendment and the substantive recommendation. The Mayor invited the Democracy and Data Manager to commence the recorded voting process.

<u>For the Amendment</u>: Councillors Belben, Bounds, Burgess, Burrett, Crow, Hellier, Jaggard, McCarthy, Morris, Mwagale, Peck, Pendlington and Piggott (13)

<u>Against the Amendment</u>: Councillors Ayling, Buck, Hart, Irvine, Jhans, K Khan, Y Khan, Jones, Lamb, Lanzer, Lunnon, Malik, Millar-Smith, C Mullins, S Mullins, Nawaz, Pritchard, Raja, Rana and Sivarajah (21)

<u>Abstentions</u>: None (0)

The Mayor declared that the proposed amendment had fallen – votes in favour 13, and votes against 21 with 0 abstentions.

<u>For the Recommendation</u>: Councillors Ayling, Belben, Bounds, Buck, Crow, Hart, Hellier, Irvine, Jaggard, Jhans, K Khan, Y Khan, Jones, Lamb, Lanzer, Lunnon, Malik, Millar-Smith, C Mullins, S Mullins, Nawaz, Pendlington, Piggott, Pritchard, Raja, Rana and Sivarajah (28)

<u>Against the Recommendation</u>: Councillors Burgess, Burrett, McCarthy, Morris, Mwagale and Peck (6)

Abstentions: None (0)

The Mayor declared the recommendation was carried – votes in favour 28, and votes against 6 with 0 abstentions.

#### RESOLVED

That Full Council approves:

- a) the submission draft Local Plan for Publication consultation (a statutory sixweek period of public consultation), commencing 9 May 2023, as shown within presented report <u>PES/427</u>
- b) the submission draft Local Plan for Submission to the Secretary of State for Examination by an independent Planning Inspector, subject to minor amendments deemed necessary following the above consultation for the purposes of clarity and accuracy.
- c) publication and submission of the supporting documents for the Local Plan: the Local Plan Map; the Sustainability Appraisal; the Habitats Regulations Assessment; the Consultation Statement; and the detailed technical evidence base documents necessary for supporting the Local Plan through Examination.

#### 8. Recommendation 3 – 2023-2024 Budget and Council Tax

The Full Council considered reports <u>FIN/606</u> and <u>FIN606a</u> of the Chief Executive and Chief Accountant (s151 officer). The Leader of the Council presented the reports which detailed that the Council had a statutory responsibility to set a Council Tax and Budget in advance of the commencement of the new financial year. It was noted that the report detailed each of the Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Accounts that combine together to formulate 'The Budget'. In proposing the level of Council Tax for the financial year 2023/24, each of those accounts identified had been considered. The proposed Council Tax for 2023/24 was to be increased by 2.99%. In presenting the report the Leader highlighted the proposal to use £261,970 from the General Fund reserve, the proposal to increase the capital budget for Crawley Homes retrofit schemes by £900,000 to assist with water neutrality and the expenditure on capital projects.

The item had been previously considered at the Overview and Scrutiny Commission and Cabinet meetings on 30 January 2023 and 1 February 2023 respectively. Councillor Jones moved the recommendation which was seconded and supported by Councillor C Mullins.

Councillor Crow then moved and presented <u>Amendment 1</u> to Recommendation 3 (as shown in the Supplementary Agenda Order Paper on page 27). The amendment was seconded by Councillor Lanzer.

A single debate occurred on both the recommendation and the proposed amendment. Councillor Lanzer, Jhans, Irvine, C Mullins, Burrett, S Mullins, and Lamb also spoke during the debate.

At the conclusion of the discussion, Councillors expressed their thanks and appreciation for the work carried out by the Council's Finance division.

The Full Council was reminded that in accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, all Councils at their annual budget meetings were required to adopt the practice of recorded votes - that is, recording in the minutes of the meeting how each member present voted on any decision relating to the Annual Budget and Council Tax. This applied not only to substantive budget motions to agree the Budget and setting Council Taxes, including precepts, but also on any amendments proposed.

Following the conclusion of the debate, the Mayor invited the Democracy and Data Manager to commence the recorded voting process on the 2023/24 Budget and Council Tax, for both the amendment and the substantive recommendation respectively.

<u>For the Amendment</u>: Councillors Belben, Bounds, Burgess, Burrett, Crow, Hellier, Jaggard, Lanzer, McCarthy, Millar-Smith, Morris, Mwagale, Peck, Pendlington and Piggott (15)

<u>Against the Amendment</u>: Councillors Ayling, Buck, Hart, Irvine, Jhans, K Khan, Y Khan, Jones, Lamb, Lunnon, Malik, C Mullins, S Mullins, Nawaz, Pritchard, Raja, Rana and Sivarajah (19)

#### Abstentions: None (0)

The Mayor declared that the proposed amendment had fallen – votes in favour 15, and votes against 19 with 0 abstentions.

<u>For the Recommendation</u>: Councillors Ayling, Belben, Bounds, Buck, Burgess, Burrett, Crow, Hart, Hellier, Irvine, Jaggard, Jhans, K Khan, Y Khan, Jones, Lamb, Lanzer, Lunnon, Malik, McCarthy, Millar-Smith, Morris, C Mullins, S Mullins, Mwagale, Nawaz, Peck, Pendlington, Piggott, Pritchard, Raja, Rana and Sivarajah (34)

Against the Recommendation: None (0)

Abstentions: None (0)

The Mayor declared the recommendation was carried – votes in favour 34, and votes against 0 with 0 abstentions.

#### RESOLVED

That the Full Council approves the following items regarding the 2023/2024 Budget:

- a) approve the proposed 2023/24 General Fund Budget which includes using £261,970 of general fund reserve and includes savings rolled forward from the current financial year as set out in section 6 of report <u>FIN/606</u>,
- approve the proposed 2023/24 Housing Revenue Account Budget as set out in Appendix 3 of the report which includes the savings and growth items as set out in section 10 of report <u>FIN/606</u>,
- c) agree to increase the capital budget for Crawley Homes retrofit schemes by £900,000 to assist with water neutrality, funded from the HRA but reimbursed by developers to carry out further retrofitting works on Council's housing stock and new-build schemes (para 11.3 of report <u>FIN/606</u>). In addition that authority be delegated to the Head of Crawley Homes, the Head of Corporate Finance, and the Head of Governance, People & Performance; in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Housing, to enter into the necessary contracts, and complete all relevant legal documentation to achieve the above recommendation,

(Generic Delegation 2 and 3 will be used to enact this recommendation).

- d) increase the capital programme by £129,950 funded from Government grant for the Town Centre DHN Phase 2 extended feasibility. An increase of £184,950 for the DHN and a reduction of £55,000 for the Town Centre Capital programme (para 11.5 of report <u>FIN/606</u>),
- e) approve the 2022/23 and future years Capital Programme and funding as set out in paragraph 11.6 of report <u>FIN/606</u>,
- agree the transfers between reserves as outlined in Section 12 of report <u>FIN/606</u>, this includes creating a Cost of Living reserve,
- agree that the Council's share of Council Tax for 2023/24 be increased by 2.99% (£6.55) from £218.79 to £225.34 for a Band D property as set out in paragraph13.1 of report <u>FIN/606</u>,
- approve the Pay Policy Statement for 2023/2024 as outlined in paragraph 16.3 and Appendix 6 of the of report <u>FIN/606</u>, noting that the pay award has yet to be agreed,

- i) approve that the S151 Officer (in consultation with the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council) be delegated authority to make minor amendments to the Hardship Policy (*under Generic Delegation 7*),
- agree to increase the capital budget for Temporary Accommodation by £1,150,000, funded from grant funding of £474,000 and borrowing of 676,000 as detailed in report <u>FIN606a</u>,
- k) agree to increase the capital budget for Acquisitions of Land and Dwellings by £10,000,000 funded from 1-4-1 receipts £4,000,000 and borrowing of £6,000,000 as detailed in report <u>FIN606a</u>.

#### 9. Recommendation 4 – Treasury Management Strategy 2023-2024

The Full Council considered reports <u>FIN/608</u> and <u>FIN608a</u> of the Chief Executive and Chief Accountant (s151 officer). The Leader of the Council presented the reports on the Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/2024 which included the Council's Investment Strategy. The Council was required to approve a Treasury Management Strategy before the start of the financial year in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management and the Council's financial regulations.

The item had been previously considered at the Overview and Scrutiny Commission and Cabinet meetings on 30 January 2023 and 1 February 2023 respectively. Councillor Jones moved the recommendation which was seconded and supported by Councillor C Mullins.

Councillor Crow then moved and presented <u>Amendment 1</u> to Recommendation 4 (as shown in the Supplementary Agenda Order Paper on page 29). The amendment was seconded by Councillor Piggott.

Councillors Pritchard, Lanzer, S Mullins, K Khan, Belben, Irvine, Lamb, Piggott, and C Mullins also spoke on the item.

#### 10. Vote to Extend the Meeting (Guillotine)

As the business of the meeting had not been completed within the scheduled two hours and 30 minutes, a vote on continuation in line with Council Procedure Rule 8.3 was held. The Mayor required the Full Council to consider if it wished to continue with the meeting.

Having put it to the vote, the Council agreed that the meeting be continued for an additional period not exceeding 30 minutes.

#### 11. Recommendation 4 – Treasury Management Strategy 2023-2024

Following the agreement of the Full Council to continue the meeting, the Mayor restarted the discussion on Recommendation 4 Treasury Management Strategy 2023/2024.

The Mayor then called for a vote on Amendment 1 as moved by Councillor Crow in respect of Recommendation 4 Treasury Management Strategy 2023/2024, which fell by 12 votes in favour, 19 against and 3 abstentions.

The Mayor then called for a vote on Recommendation 4 which was carried by 33 votes in favour, 0 against and 1 abstention.

#### RESOLVED

That the Full Council approves:

- a) the Treasury Prudential Indicators and the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement contained within Section 5.4 of report <u>FIN/608</u>.
- b) the Treasury Management Strategy contained within Section 6 of report <u>FIN/608</u>.
- c) the Investment Strategy contained within Section 7 of report FIN/608.
- d) the amended the prudential indicators in the Treasury Management Strategy2023/2024 <u>FIN/608</u> as set out in Section 4 of report <u>FIN608a</u>.

#### 12. Recommendation 5 – Corporate Plan 2023-2027

The Full Council considered report <u>CEX/60</u> of the Chief Executive. The Leader of the Council presented the report which documented a refresh the Council's Corporate Plan, so it reflected the Council's priorities for the period 2023-2027. The key changes within the Plan from the previous edition related to the borough's recovery from the economic crisis and the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, the impact of water neutrality on the built environment, the need for more affordable housing and temporary accommodation and the importance of reducing the Council's and the town's carbon footprint through the delivery of the Climate Emergency Action Plan.

The item had been previously considered at the Overview and Scrutiny Commission and Cabinet meetings on 30 January 2023 and 1 February 2023 respectively. Councillor Jones moved the recommendation which was seconded and supported by Councillor C Mullins.

Councillor Crow then moved and presented <u>Amendment 1</u> to Recommendation 5 (as shown in the Supplementary Agenda Order Paper on page 31). The amendment was seconded by Councillor Millar-Smith.

Councillors Lamb, Burrett, and C Mullins also spoke on the item.

Councillor Jones, using their right to reply, commented that he would accept the Amendment and include it as part of the substantive recommendation. The Mayor called for a vote on the Amendment, which was carried unanimously. The Mayor then called for a vote on the substantive recommendation as amended which was also carried unanimously.

#### RESOLVED

That the Full Council approves:

- a) the adoption of the Corporate Plan 2023 2027 as detailed in Appendix B.
- b) that the Council will publish quarterly and annual Key Performance Indicators for the four years of the Corporate Plan, in order for the performance and progress of the Corporate Plan to be transparent and able to be monitored by Crawley residents.

#### 13. Recommendation 6 - Notice of Precept 2023-2024

Councillor Jones presented report <u>FIN/613</u> and Recommendation 6 that set out the Notice of Precept 2023/24 from the Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex and West Sussex County Council, which combined with the previously agreed Crawley Borough Council precept to formulate the 2023/24 Council Tax Resolution for 2023/24.

The recommendation was moved by Councillor Jones and seconded by Councillor C Mullins.

Following approval of the Council's budget in Recommendation 3, and in accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, the names of the councillors voting for and against Recommendation 6 were recorded as set out below:-

<u>For the Recommendation</u>: Councillors Ayling, Belben, Bounds, Buck, Burgess, Burrett, Crow, Hart, Hellier, Irvine, Jaggard, Jhans, K Khan, Y Khan, Jones, Lamb, Lanzer, Lunnon, Malik, McCarthy, Millar-Smith, Morris, C Mullins, S Mullins, Mwagale, Nawaz, Peck, Pendlington, Piggott, Pritchard, Raja, Rana and Sivarajah (34)

Against the Recommendation: None (0)

Abstentions the Recommendation: None (0)

The Mayor declared the recommendation was carried – votes in favour 34, and votes against 0 with 0 abstentions.

#### RESOLVED

That the Full Council, following the receipt of the notice of precept from the Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex and West Sussex County Council and the approval of the Council's budget, approves the following:

- That it be noted that on 22 December 2022 the Leader of the Council under delegated powers calculated the Council Tax Base 2023/24 for the whole Council area as **35,952.7** [Item T in the formula in Section 31B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the "Act")]; and
- 2. That the Council Tax requirement for the Council's own purposes for 2023/24 is calculated at £8,101,581.
- 3. That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2023/24 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act:

(a)	£121,225,311	being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils.
(b)	£113,123,730	being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act.
(c)	£8,101,581	being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement for the year. (Item R in the formula in Section 31B of the Act).
(d)	£225.34	being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish precepts).
(e)	£0	being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act.
(f)	£225.34	being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 3(e) above by Item T (1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no Parish precept relates.

- 4. That it be noted that the County Council have proposed precepts and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex have issued precepts to the Council in accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the Council's area as indicated in the table below.
- 5. That the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the table below as the amounts of Council Tax for 2023/24 for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings.

#### COUNCIL TAX SCHEDULE 2023/24

	CRAWLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL	WEST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL	POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SUSSEX	TOTAL
BAND A	150.23	1,088.94	159.94	1,399.11
BAND B	175.26	1,270.43	186.60	1,632.29
BAND C	200.30	1,451.92	213.25	1,865.47
BAND D	225.34	1,633.41	239.91	2,098.66
BAND E	275.42	1,996.39	293.22	2,565.03
BAND F	325.49	2,359.37	346.54	3,031.40
BAND G	375.57	2,722.35	399.85	3,497.77
BAND H	450.68	3,266.82	479.82	4,197.32

6. That it be determined in accordance with Section 52ZB Local Government Finance Act 1992 that the Council 's basic amount of Council Tax for 2023/24 is NOT excessive in accordance with principles approved by the Secretary of State under Section 52ZC of the Act.

#### 14. Vote to Extend the Meeting (Guillotine)

As the business of the meeting had not been completed within the additional 30 minutes, a vote on continuation in line with Full Council Procedure Rule 8.3 was held. The Mayor required the Full Council to consider if it wished to continue with the meeting.

Having put it to the vote, the Council agreed that the meeting be continued for an additional period not exceeding 30 minutes

#### 15. Notice of Motion 1 - Motion on the Sale of Nitrous Oxide

The Full Council considered the <u>Notice of Motion</u> – Motion on the Sale of Nitrous Oxide – as set out on page 75 of the agenda.

The Motion was moved and presented by Councillor Crow, who in doing so gave further explanation of the reasoning behind the Motion. It was seconded and supported by Councillor Burgess.

Councillor S Mullins moved and presented <u>Amendment 1</u> to the Notice of Motion (as shown in the Supplementary Agenda Order Paper). The amendment was seconded by Councillor Pritchard.

Councillors Lamb and K Khan also spoke on the item.

Councillor Crow, using their right to reply, commented that he would accept Councillor S Mullins' amendment and include it as part of the substantive recommendation. The Mayor then called for a vote on the amendment, which was carried unanimously. The Mayor then called for a vote on the substantive recommendation as amended which was also carried unanimously.

#### RESOLVED

This Council notes that:

In September 2021, the Home Office asked the independent Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) to review the harm caused by Nitrous Oxide, known as laughing gas, after it was reported that over half a million young people took the drug in 2019-20.

The sale of Nitrous Oxide for its psychoactive effects was made illegal after the Psychoactive Substances Act in 2016, but it is not currently a crime to be caught in possession of the drug, despite the fact that inhaling Nitrous Oxide can cause serious long-term health impacts.

Nitrous Oxide is commonly used at anti-social gatherings and leads to widespread littering in public places, including in Crawley, where the amount of discarded small silver canisters often seen suggests there is an issue with this within the Borough.

#### This Council notes:

The Minister for Crime, Policing and Fire, Chris Philp MP, has already requested that the review into Nitrous Oxide be fast tracked with a call for evidence that closed yesterday, with a view to making a formal announcement in order to support further action on Nitrous Oxide by the government later this year.

#### This Council resolves to:

For the Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Public Protection to write to Chris Philp MP, on a cross party basis on behalf of the Council's entire membership, to urge him to bring forward legislation this year to ban direct consumer sales and possession of Nitrous Oxide without lawful reason. Such a lawful reason would include sale and possession of nitrous oxide for the purposes of food or drink production i.e. cake making.

### 16. Councillors' Questions Time

Name of Councillor asking Question	Name of Cabinet Member Responding
Councillor Jaggard to the Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Sustainability	Councillor Jhans, Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Sustainability
Supplementary question to written question –	
I am pleased the enforcement officers are visiting schools across the borough on a more frequent basis, but it is disappointing that whilst Northgate school was visited 10 times and Three Bridges school 15 times, the only time Maidenbower school has been visited was at the request of a PCSO a few weeks ago and the Infant school in Maidenbower hasn't been visited at all, even though Maidenbower Councillors have actually requested a visit as there have been really nasty incidents there. Can we expect a greater presence of Enforcement Officers in Maidenbower going forward? I want to make sure that all schools are visited.	Thank you for bringing this forward. There is a higher concentration at Three Bridges and Northgate partly because they are located in priority enforcement zones but also where there are reactive requests. Please continue to raise those requests and incidents. We will schedule school visits where we can and we will then concentrate school enforcement when those requests come in but it does come down to a resourcing issue. However, I note your point regarding the schools in Maidenbower and I'll see if the patrols can be increased regarding those areas for both schools.
Councillor Burrett to the Cabinet Member for Wellbeing	Councillor C Mullins, Cabinet Member for Wellbeing
Earlier this evening Councillor McCarthy and I attended an event at Ridleys Court in Pound Hill regarding the forthcoming installation of an artificial cricket pitch on Grattons playing field. As Ward Councillors we were only informed about this as it's been the subject of a significant operational decision. However we were not consulted about this. It has generated mixed feelings as some are happy about it and some have expressed concerns about parking implications or stray cricket balls but the residents are concerned that Ward Councillors were not able offer views prior to the decision. The event this evening was to inform residents as to 'what will be happening' as opposed to 'what would you like to happen'. Please can I ask Councillor Mullins as to why Ward Councillors were not consulted prior to the proposal being agreed and what opportunity there is for the public to input into any mitigation?	I will look into why you were not consulted. I admit I did not feel it was a controversial development and had hoped it would prove quite popular. We are trying to make more provision and encourage more sports and we have had a reduction in cricket in some areas. I will follow up and request the officers contact you with further information.

Councillor Burgess to the Cabinet Member for Housing	Councillor Buck, Cabinet Member for Housing
How are our social landlords selected and what is the criteria for selection?	Thank you for your question. I will have the officers respond to you.
Supplementary Question – Please can you kindly email me the response, without placing in the Information Bulletin. If there is criteria for our social landlords to be selected, what happens if they fall below standard?	I will make sure the information is provided.
Councillor Hellier to the Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Sustainability	Councillor Jhans, Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Sustainability
Fly tipping waste in Crawley is an issue and has increased over the last few years. In my view it's an environmental tragedy. What fines have been issued and what is the total cost for removal of the waste? Also what types of waste are we actually encountering? What can the Council do to prioritise and help prevent this? If possible, could this information be published in the Information Bulletin please as I'm aware you won't have all the details tonight.	Thank you for your question as it's a really important topic. Fly tipping is an environmental disaster and costly for the tax payer too. It is one of the top priorities in my portfolio. Our Community Wardens piloted an Enviro-Crime officer to assist in this work and we were able to prosecute several people who were guilty of fly tipping. We have actually seen a 'flatline' in figures however we obviously still want those figures to reduce and would like them to be zero. I would be happy to share further figures with you.

#### 17. Vote to Extend the Meeting (Guillotine)

As the business of the meeting had not been completed within the additional 30 minutes a vote on continuation in line with Full Council Procedure Rule 8.3 was held. The Mayor required the Full Council to consider if it wished to continue with the meeting.

Having put it to the vote, the Council agreed that the meeting be continued for an additional period not exceeding 30 minutes.

#### 18. Councillors' Questions Time (continued)

Following the agreement of the Full Council to continue the meeting, the Mayor restarted Councillors' Questions Time.

Name of Councillor asking Question	Name of Cabinet Member Responding
Councillor Lanzer to the Leader of the Council	Councillor Jones, Leader of the Council
On the Communications side of his portfolio, we heard the Mayor state	Unfortunately I had a family commitment and was unable to attend the Mayor's

earlier that there was the Civic Ball, however this year there has been a deficit on the communications regarding the Civic Ball as it is normally well publicised after the event providing information such as how much it raised, the charity supported and how much the event cost. But I have not detected anything.	<ul> <li>Ball this year but I understand it was well attended. I am not aware of any communications regarding the Ball but I imagine any lack of communication was not intentional so I will check with the Communications Manager and confirm.</li> <li><i>The Mayor</i></li> <li>The raffle for that evening raised just under £800.</li> </ul>
Councillor Crow to the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development In August I was pleased to join with you in College Road once the cycle paths and Eastern Gateway scheme were completed. Since then, how many times have you observed a cyclist using the cycle paths either in College Road or The Boulevard?	Councillor Nawaz, Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development I actually follow one of the cycling forums on social media in Crawley and there are positive comments about it. However at the same time there are comments that people are not using the cycle paths. But obviously once all the cycle network is connected, we'll probably see more use of it.
Supplementary Question – Thank you for your answer and I would add this is a joint project with the County Council. I can say that sadly I have only seen one person use the cycle paths and also seen a pedestrian walk all the way down the path too. Should we consider learning from previous projects and usage when it comes to future schemes?	I think previous lessons could be considered in other schemes.
Councillor Piggott to the Cabinet Member for Resources	Councillor Malik, Cabinet Member for Resources
I would like to follow up on any possibility of a Tree Preservation Order searchable database for the public.	I am aware the old system has been updated as part of the Transformation Plan and I will find out further information for you and update.
Councillor Jaggard to the Cabinet Member for Wellbeing	Councillor C Mullins, Cabinet Member for Wellbeing
The Maidenbower community centre is hired out to various children's groups. Is the Cabinet Member aware that the community hall has been without heating for the last few weeks according to residents, and what can be done and perhaps refunds offered to the groups that have hired it out and been impacted?	Thank you for raising as I was not aware but if it has been reported it should have been repaired. I have a briefing on Friday and I will follow up.

Councillor Lanzer to the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development	Councillor Nawaz, Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development
Many Crawley people enjoy the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Is the Cabinet Member aware of an application for Crawley to make a contribution to the management plan of the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and is he aware of what the Council's response was, and the reason behind that response please?	Thank you for your question. I'm not aware and I'll ask officers and respond to you.
Councillor Burgess to the Cabinet Member for Housing	Councillor Buck, Cabinet Member for Housing
Thank you for the information in the Info Bulletin in December. I would like updated information on affordable social rents to be sent through please. I have previous figures but would like updated figures emailed please. As housing costs should not exceed a third of households' total income what can be done to assist our tenants?	Please can you send me an email with your queries and I'll be able to answer more fully.

# 19. Receiving the Minutes of the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Commission and Other Committees including Items for Debate

Moved by Councillor Rana (as the Deputy Mayor):-

#### RESOLVED

That the following reports be received:

- Planning Committee 5 December 2022
- Overview and Scrutiny Commission 9 January 2023
- Planning Committee 10 January 2023
- Governance Committee 24 January 2023
- Overview and Scrutiny Commission 30 January 2023
- Cabinet 1 February 2023
- Planning Committee 6 February 2023
- Licensing Committee 7 February 2023

There were no items for debate.

#### **Closure of Meeting**

With the business of the Full Council concluded, the Chair declared the meeting closed at 11.12  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{pm}}$ 

J Hart (Mayor)

This page is intentionally left blank

## **Disclosures of Interest**

## Appendix A

Councillor	Item and Minute	Meeting	Type and Nature of Disclosure
Councillor Burrett	CR/2022/0091/NCC – 6 Woodlands, Pound Hill (Minute 4)	Planning Committee 5 December 2022	Personal Interest – had contact with the applicant regarding the Planning Committee process, but did not express a view on the application.
Councillor Ali	CR/2022/0384/ADV – Land at Haslett Avenue East, Three Bridges (Minute 5)	Planning Committee 5 December 2022	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor.
Councillor Burrett	CR/2022/0384/ADV – Land at Haslett Avenue East, Three Bridges (Minute 5)	Planning Committee 5 December 2022	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor.
Councillor Burrett	Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee (HASC) (Minute 6)	Overview and Scrutiny Commission 9 January 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor.
Councillor Lanzer	Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee (HASC) (Minute 6)	Overview and Scrutiny Commission 9 January 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor.
Councillor Lanzer	Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee (HASC) (Minute 6)	Overview and Scrutiny Commission 9 January 2023	Personal Interest – WSCC Cabinet Member for Public Health & Wellbeing
Councillor Burrett	Tree Preservation Order Application CR/2022/0709/TPO – 24 Walton Heath, Pound Hill (Minute 5)	Planning Committee 10 January 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor.
Councillor Burrett	2023-2024 Budget and Council Tax (Minute 5)	Overview and Scrutiny Commission 30 January 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor.
Councillor Lanzer	2023-2024 Budget and Council Tax (Minute 5)	Overview and Scrutiny Commission 30 January 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor.

Councillor Burrett	Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee (HASC)	Overview and Scrutiny Commission 30 January 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Lanzer	(Minute 10) Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee	Overview and Scrutiny Commission	Personal Interest – West Sussex County
	(HASC) (Minute 10)	30 January 2023	Councillor
Councillor Lanzer	Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee (HASC) (Minute 10)	Overview and Scrutiny Commission 30 January 2023	Personal Interest – WSCC Cabinet Member for Public Health & Wellbeing
Councillor Crow	Crawley Borough Local Plan Review: Publication and Submission (Minute 5)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Lanzer	Crawley Borough Local Plan Review: Publication and Submission (Minute 5)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Lanzer	Crawley Borough Local Plan Review: Publication and Submission (Minute 5)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest – WSCC Cabinet Member for Public Health & Wellbeing
Councillor Burrett	2023/24 Budget and Council Tax (Minute 6)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Crow	2023/24 Budget and Council Tax (Minute 6)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Lanzer	2023/24 Budget and Council Tax (Minute 6)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Crow	Corporate Plan (Minute 10)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Burrett	Notice of Precept 2023/2024 (Recommendation 6)	Full Council 22 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Crow	Notice of Precept 2023/2024 (Recommendation 6)	Full Council 22 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor
Councillor Lanzer	Notice of Precept 2023/2024 (Recommendation 6)	Full Council 22 February 2023	Personal Interest – West Sussex County Councillor

All Officers attending this meeting of the Full Council	2023/24 Budget and Council Tax (Minute 6)	Cabinet 1 February 2023	Personal Interest, as Officers of the Council in relation to the Pay Policy Statement
--	---	----------------------------	--

This page is intentionally left blank

## Corporate Plan 2023 - 2027

#### 1. Delivering value for money and modernising the way we work

#### We will:

- Continue to balance the budget (over a four-year period), by improving our efficiency, increasing income and investing ethically and wisely.
- Work to keep council tax low without compromising local services.
- Continue to deliver the Transformation Plan.
- Continue to develop digital service delivery, enabling customers to engage with council services at their convenience, via websites and self-service portals, whilst investing in technology to support digital working and self-service for CBC staff, including mobile teams.
- Transition to the New Town Hall and embed new working practices.
- Maximise the use of our assets, ensuring they deliver value for money and consider the social value of what these provide to our communities, where appropriate.

#### 2. Delivering affordable homes for Crawley and addressing homelessness

We will:

- Continue to deliver as much affordable housing as possible, particularly Council housing, through our own-build and enabling programmes for people with a local connection to Crawley and to meet our other statutory duties.
- Work collaboratively with other statutory and voluntary sector agencies in supporting those facing homelessness within the borough. Lobby government for the appropriate support with regard to temporary accommodation and those at risk of homelessness.
- Continue working with neighbouring councils in the spirit of partnership to collectively deliver housing to meet Crawley's needs through the 'duty to co-operate arrangements'.
- Deliver improvements to the management of the Council's housing stock in line with legislative reform, ensuring the customer is at the heart of service delivery and feel safe and secure in their tenancies.

#### 3. Enabling a sustainable economic recovery and improving job opportunities

We will:

- Continue to implement Crawley's "One Town" Economic Recovery Plan, which sets out our commitment for Crawley's future socio-economic prosperity, a clear path for recovery from the pandemic and a marker to Crawley's formidable reputation for economic productivity. Enable support measures to diversify the local economy and building economic resilience in the borough.
- Deliver the Crawley Growth Programme and Crawley Towns Fund Programme to provide major improvements to the town's infrastructure, including significant sustainable transport enhancements and better business, skills and community facilities.
- Unlock pathways to better job opportunities for local residents, by working with employers on apprenticeship schemes and refreshing Crawley's Employment and Skills Programme and continuing its delivery. Deliver the outcomes within the Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan.

- Continue to work closely with our Local Economic Partnerships to boost sustainable business growth, attract new jobs investment and empower the local resident workforce.
- Utilise our place making responsibilities and powers to drive sustainable growth, enhance Crawley as a place to do business and support economic growth through technology and hyper digital connectivity.
- Work with partner organisations to support the green transformation of Crawley's economy and invest in the skills required to deliver this.

#### 4. Reconnecting communities

We will:

- Support local groups in delivering a range of events and activities that celebrate Crawley's diversity, encourage tolerance and cohesion, and re-connect people with their wider community.
- Continue to help local voluntary and community sector organisations, through the grants process and other support to provide important services to residents.
- Continue to work proactively with our partners to sustain Crawley as a safe place to live, work and visit.
- Promote and facilitate opportunities for our residents to have their voices heard over how services are delivered, through a range of community engagement channels, including neighbourhood forums.
- Enable early intervention and support to households who are financially or socially vulnerable, through the delivery of the Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan and Access Crawley.
- Create a Covid-19 memorial to remember those we have lost and those whose lives have been permanently impacted by the pandemic.

# 5. Providing high quality leisure and culture facilities and supporting health and wellbeing services

We will:

- Continue to invest in and enhance the town's leisure, wellbeing and culture facilities and services, such as local parks and open spaces, Nature Centre, sports & playing pitches, play areas, K2 Crawley, the Hawth and outreach play service.
- Build on the success of Tilgate Park and the Nature Centre and continue to invest in the town's parks starting with Goffs Park improvements.
- Work with partners, residents and other key stakeholders to enhance our resident's health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities across our town. Encourage services back to Crawley Hospital and address GP shortages in provision across the borough.

#### 6. Protecting the environment

We will:

- Protect and enhance our environment by reducing the Council's and the town's Carbon footprint, through the delivery of the Climate Emergency Action Plan.
- Complete the feasibility of developing the phase 2 expansion of the town centre District Heat Network. Subject to the outcome of the feasibility study, progress the business case and development of the phase 2 expansion of the Heat Network.
- Continue to reduce, reuse and recycle our waste, providing the mechanisms to encourage residents to reduce the amount of residual waste they produce.
- Continue to seek measures to improve the air quality across the Borough.
- Revise the Crawley Local Plan 2022- 2037 to ensure that it remains up to date and reflects the key issues and growth challenges facing the town.

- Continue to provide a safe, clean and well-maintained town.
- Strive to deliver commitments to net zero through the Council's housing stock, seeking and maximising opportunities through external funding sources. Encourage the private sector to make changes as well, in consultation with the Council.
- Reduce the consumption of water in the borough and supporting water neutral development through reducing water consumption in the Council's housing stock and buildings.

This page is intentionally left blank